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 1                    DIRECT EXAMINATION

 2 BY MR. RATNER:

 3        Q   Ms. Burke, would you like some water to have

 4  available?

 5        A   Actually, that might be a great idea.

 6        Q   So Ms. Burke, there's a lot of documents and

 7  books in front of you.  I don't think I'm going to be

 8  asking about many of those, so you can move them aside

 9  or however you're comfortable.

10            Let's just start out with what is your

11  involvement with  educational experience in

12  fifth grade at Old Hundred Elementary School.

13        A   Sure.  So I'm an advocate, and what I

14  typically do is work with families.  Typically, a

15  family will contact me, and my role really is problem

16  solving.  And so I will come alongside -- typically, I

17  try very hard to establish a relationship with the

18  school team.  I try to partner home and school together

19  because we all know how important that is for any

20  child, and it's really about coming alongside and

21  saying where is the child now, what are the struggles,

22  what are the issues, what are the problems, where do we

23  need to go and how do we get there.

24        Q   I really apologize for cutting you off.

25            Did you do that for  and her
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 1  family?

 2        A   Yes.  I was contacted and listened to what

 3  issues were going on.  Mind you, we were in virtual at

 4  that time across the county.

 5        Q   So let me stop you right there, and before we

 6  get into what you did, I wanted to introduce how you

 7  were connected.  Let's just talk a little bit about

 8  your background.

 9        A   Okay.

10        Q   Do you have any education beyond high school?

11        A   Yes.

12        Q   Tell Ms. Freeman about any education you

13  completed beyond high school, please.

14        A   So I have my undergraduate and graduate work

15  in special education from the University of Maryland,

16  College Park.

17        Q   What was the graduate work?

18        A   It was in special education as well.

19           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Is her curriculum vitae

20      in here?

21           MR. RATNER:  It is not.  We are not offering

22      her as an expert.

23           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Oh, okay.

24           MR. RATNER:  Just wanted her to explain her

25      background a little bit, but I'm not qualifying her

REDACTED
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 1      as an expert.

 2           THE WITNESS:  Would you like me to go --

 3           THE HEARING OFFICER:  So she's a fact lay

 4      witness?

 5           MR. RATNER:  Yes, ma'am.

 6 BY MR. RATNER:

 7        Q   I'm sorry, when did you finish undergrad,

 8  what year?  That's a terrible question.  I'm going to

 9  withdraw.  Let me withdraw.

10            What was your graduate degree in?

11        A   It's in special education from the University

12  of Maryland, College Park.

13        Q   Yes, ma'am.  And after you finished that, did

14  you ever work?

15        A   Yes, I was a special education teacher in

16  Montgomery County, Maryland.

17        Q   So where -- I'm not that familiar with

18  Maryland.  Is that like Bethesda/Silver Spring area?

19        A   Yes, exactly.

20        Q   So not too far away.

21        A   Right.

22        Q   When --

23        A   Can I just tell my -- then you can interject.

24  That way I can get --

25        Q   Please.

REDACTED
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 1        A   My undergraduate work was at University of

 2  Maryland, College Park.  It was in special education.

 3  I worked for Montgomery County Public Schools and did

 4  some consulting for them.  So I would go, especially

 5  for extended school year, where I would go and look at

 6  different camps, how do we service them, come alongside

 7  of the staff there and say, these might be some

 8  suggestions that I have.

 9            After Montgomery County Schools, I was an

10  outside consultant for Maryland Coalition for Inclusive

11  Education, so I worked in --

12           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Maryland Coalition?

13           THE WITNESS:  MCIE, Maryland Coalition for

14      Inclusive Education.

15           So, basically, that's where students with

16      disabilities, students who have an IEP typically,

17      are in settings with their peers, and I would come

18      in and work with school teams and I would problem

19      solve and do advocacy work, come alongside of the

20      team and the families, home/school relationship,

21      what's happening at the school, what's happening at

22      home, how do we bridge that gap and help this child

23      to make progress.

24 BY MR. RATNER:

25        Q   So just backing up a tiny bit to your time

REDACTED
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 1  with Montgomery County Public Schools, were you a

 2  classroom teacher?

 3        A   Yes, I was a special education teacher.  So I

 4  had my own classes, I had my own caseload, and I also

 5  had students who were in inclusive settings within that

 6  building.

 7        Q   Okay.  And what grades or what school level?

 8        A   So mainly middle school.

 9        Q   Okay.  And about how many years were you a

10  classroom teacher?

11        A   I was a classroom teacher for five years in

12  Montgomery County before I made the decision to go

13  private and work with Maryland Coalition for Inclusive

14  Education and then also for myself.

15        Q   When you say work for yourself, that was the

16  advocacy work you were describing?

17        A   Correct.  Working with families, yes.

18        Q   You mentioned having your own caseload when

19  you were a classroom teacher?

20        A   Yes.

21        Q   Just briefly, what does that mean?

22        A   That means that students who have IEPs, they

23  need those direct services and supports.  I was the

24  person who was in charge of making sure that happened

25  for students.
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 1           THE HEARING OFFICER:  What happened for

 2      students?

 3           THE WITNESS:  Direct services, ma'am.

 4           THE HEARING OFFICER:  You said, I made that

 5      happen.

 6           THE WITNESS:  So I was the person who made

 7      sure that accommodations were being made in the

 8      classrooms where my students, the students on my

 9      caseload, attended.  I worked with the general

10      education teachers.  So we would partner, and they

11      would -- I would meet with them and say, these are

12      the goals that these students have and how are we

13      going to embed them within your classroom, how are

14      we going to support this child, and ultimately, it

15      was my responsibility to make sure that happened.

16           Is that clear?

17           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes.

18           THE WITNESS:  Is that what you were looking

19      for?

20           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes.  I just didn't get

21      everything that you said.

22           THE WITNESS:  And I'm a fast talker, so if you

23      would like me to slow down.

24           THE HEARING OFFICER:  No, you're fine.  Thank

25      you.

REDACTED
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 1 BY MR. RATNER:

 2        Q   So am I accurate to say that you used the

 3  skills that you developed as a case manager in the

 4  public schools and for Maryland Coalition for Inclusive

 5  Education to help families like the 

 6        A   Correct.

 7        Q   And did you work directly with the 

 8  family?

 9        A   Yes.

10        Q   Tell Ms. Freeman about that.

11        A   So I was contacted by the  family.  

12  was failing to make progress.  This would be in the

13  fall of 2020.  So just for clarity, we had the school

14  shutdowns in March of 2020.  That went to a

15  virtual-type setting, recovery of learning.  And then I

16  became involved in the fall of 2020.  So the entire

17  county, Chesterfield County Public Schools, was

18  virtual.

19        Q   Are you a Chesterfield County resident?

20        A   I am.

21        Q   And there was a little bit of testimony --

22  you mentioned recovery of learning just now.

23        A   Correct.

24        Q   Just to make sure -- it was a few days ago,

25  so I'm a little fuzzy on what recovery of learning was.

REDACTED
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 1            Do you have personal knowledge of that as a

 2  resident of Chesterfield County?

 3        A   As a mother, of course, and as an advocate,

 4  yes, so I can serve both of those roles.  Recovery of

 5  learning, March 13, 2020, no one expected it; it's a

 6  pandemic.  Schools shut down per the governor's orders.

 7  We were all in the same boat throughout Chesterfield

 8  County Public Schools.

 9            We had students -- there was a little

10  disparity throughout the county.  Some schools did

11  daily check-ins with teachers.  Others -- and rightly

12  so, for example, my daughter's teacher has little ones

13  at home --

14           MS. OWENS:  This hearing is specifically about

15      .

16           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.  Move on.

17           THE WITNESS:  So recovery of learning was

18      basically a way to say, we missed this big --

19           MR. RATNER:  Hold on.  She sustained the

20      objection.

21           THE WITNESS:  I don't know what that means.

22           MR. RATNER:  Right.  I'm going to tell you.

23           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Oh, yeah, go ahead and

24      tell her.  I'm sorry.  I didn't make that clear.

25           MR. RATNER:  That means I'm going to ask you a

REDACTED

REDACTED
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 1      new question.

 2           THE WITNESS:  Okay.

 3 BY MR. RATNER:

 4        Q   We are going to stop talking about recovery

 5  of learning.  Just to be clear, we are going to keep

 6  the focus on  and what you did on her behalf

 7  with her family.

 8        A   So I was not involved with  during

 9  recovery of learning.

10        Q   Right.

11        A   So I'm going to just table that.  But I can

12  say when I became involved, we were in virtual

13  education throughout the county.  And I will say, from

14  my experience and also in working with our School Board

15  members in Chesterfield and Dr. Daugherty, there were

16  many students who were struggling with virtual

17  education.  It was a new modality for everyone.

18  Teachers were struggling.  It was a new teaching

19  method.  And so we had this -- I don't know if it's a

20  perfect storm.  I don't know the correct way to put

21  that.  But we had this new way of teaching, this new

22  way of learning that was a struggle for many students.

23            For a student like  who struggles with

24  dyslexia, who has trouble with her reading and her

25  writing but is also very gifted, she really struggled.

REDACTED
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 1           THE WITNESS:  I don't know anything that's

 2      happened before this today.

 3           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Just watch me or

 4      Mr. Ratner.  But there's been an objection, and I

 5      need to rule on that.

 6           So, yeah, there's been no -- I believe your

 7      objection went, if I recall correctly, went to

 8      the -- went to the fact that there's been no

 9      evidence that  didn't attend the first nine

10      weeks except for two days and then four in the --

11      four days in the hybrid learning, I believe?

12           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

13           MR. RATNER:  Just hold on.

14           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Is that what you said?

15           MS. OWENS:  Yes.

16           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  All right.  So

17      we're going to strike that --

18           MR. RATNER:  May I respond?

19           THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- unless there's a

20      foundation laid.

21           MR. RATNER:  Well, I guess, again, I'm

22      continuing to be a little bit puzzled.  We have had

23      so many documents that have been allowed to

24      quote-unquote speak for themselves about what the

25      school claims happened.  She's here testifying

REDACTED

REDACTED
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 1      about what happened.

 2           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think I made the

 3      ruling.  So if you want to go on.

 4           MR. RATNER:  So you made the ruling before I

 5      even responded?

 6           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I made the ruling

 7      because I did that, and I'm not going to -- not

 8      going to stop right now.  I think we have a certain

 9      amount of time to get through this.

10           THE WITNESS:  Can I ask a question?

11           THE HEARING OFFICER:  If you want to ask more

12      questions that --

13           THE WITNESS:  So I believe you are the counsel

14      for Chesterfield --

15           MR. RATNER:  Just hold on.

16           MR. ANDRIANO:  There's no question.

17           THE WITNESS:  She was in the meeting.

18           MR. RATNER:  I understand.

19           THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.

20           THE HEARING OFFICER:  All I'm asking you to do

21      is ask more questions.

22           THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Ask me about the IEP

23      meeting.

24           MR. RATNER:  I would be delighted to.

25           THE WITNESS:  Sorry.

REDACTED
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 1           MR. ANDRIANO:  Let the record reflect,

 2      Ms. Freeman, the witness is just speaking without

 3      any questions.

 4           THE WITNESS:  Can you give me direction?

 5           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Just respond to his

 6      question, each question.  I know you're a little

 7      loquacious, but let's respond only to the question

 8      that he asks.  I think if we focus on that probably

 9      it will be a little bit more structured.

10           And thank you for that.

11 BY MR. RATNER:

12        Q   So were you asked to attend an IEP meeting

13  with ?

14        A   Yes.

15        Q   Okay.  When was the first IEP meeting you

16  participated in?

17        A   November 4, I believe it was, of 2020, that

18  fall of virtual.

19        Q   And do you remember who participated in the

20  meeting?  I can show you an attendance list if it would

21  help.

22        A   I don't need an attendance list.  I know that

23  Ms. Owens was the counsel for the school.  I know that

24  Ms. Houston and Ms. McCluskey, who are two providers

25  for  at Old Hundred Elementary School; Ms. Mottley,

REDACTED
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 1  who is the principal of Old Hundred; Mr. Mueller, who

 2  was counsel for the .  I was there.  I was

 3  present.  The  were present.  Ms. Pettiway, who

 4  is also a staff member at Old Hundred Elementary School

 5  who oversees special education, was present.  Those

 6  were the key players, so to speak.  And in that

 7  meeting, we did discuss  attendance for the first

 8  nine weeks.

 9        Q   Okay.  And so but entire team and you -- did

10  you consider yourself to be a member of the IEP team?

11        A   I always consider myself when I'm invited by

12  a family to be a part of the team.  I typically work

13  very closely with the school team.  I'm not someone

14  that's like I'm only here for the .  I'm there

15  for .  And it really does take the school team and

16  the parents to come together to service this child.

17  So, yes, I absolutely consider myself a part of the

18  team.

19        Q   So tell Ms. Freeman, if you could, what you

20  recall about the discussion during the November 4th,

21  2020, IEP team meeting for  with respect to

22  her attendance during the first nine weeks of the 2020

23  school year, 2020-2021 school year.

24           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Do you have any personal

25      knowledge of her attendance?
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 1           THE WITNESS:  Yes, I was in this meeting.  And

 2      Ms. Houston is her classroom teacher, and

 3      Ms. McCluskey is the special education.

 4           Ms. McCluskey would have  on her caseload,

 5      and Ms. Houston is the general education teacher.

 6           THE HEARING OFFICER:  And they relayed

 7      information to you?

 8           THE WITNESS:  About attendance, yes.

 9           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Thank you.  That

10      was the end of my question.

11           Go ahead.

12           THE WITNESS:  Yes, so at this meeting, which

13      was the first IEP meeting during the virtual

14      schooling, we talked about  had a lot of school

15      avoidance issues, so she was not coming on to the

16      Chromebook.  There were times where the teachers

17      relayed that the Chromebook would -- you know, you

18      didn't have to show your face.  No one had to in

19      the county, so that was a rule.  So  --

20           THE HEARING OFFICER:  What was the rule about

21      the Chromebook?

22           THE WITNESS:  The screen, you did not have to

23      have my face.  I did not have to have my camera on.

24           THE HEARING OFFICER:  The first rule was you

25      didn't have to have your camera on?
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 1           THE WITNESS:  Throughout the county, yes,

 2      ma'am.

 3           MS. OWENS:  I'm going to object to this

 4      witness testifying with regard to the practices or

 5      the policies of Chesterfield County Public Schools,

 6      and she is not an employee of the division and

 7      cannot speak on behalf of the division.

 8           MR. RATNER:  If I could just respond briefly.

 9           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sure.  Go ahead.

10           MR. RATNER:  She is the parent of four

11      children who either have attended or do attend

12      Chesterfield County Public Schools.

13           THE HEARING OFFICER:  But this is 

14      hearing, so I don't -- I know it's going to be

15      difficult for you because you do have lots of

16      personal knowledge about what goes on with your

17      children.  But this hearing is about , and

18      you're going to have to confine your information to

19      what you know about  personally, because you're

20      a lay witness.

21           THE WITNESS:  And I understand that I need --

22      so for  and for my professional role -- forget

23      me being a mother.  The county --

24           MR. ANDRIANO:  Is there a question?

25           MS. OWENS:  There is no question pending for

REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED



 v Chesterfield County Public Schools Page 1250
Job # 47228 Due Process Hearing - Day 4 of 8 3/24/2022

www.cavalier-reporting.com Cavalier Reporting & Videography info@cavalier-reporting.com
(434) 293-3300 Reported by Lori A Boeding (800) 972-1993

 1      this witness right now.

 2           THE HEARING OFFICER:  There's no question on

 3      the table right now.  I'm sorry.  I should have

 4      said I'm finished with my question.  So you got me.

 5      I'm so sorry.

 6           Go ahead and answer any questions that counsel

 7      has over here.

 8 BY MR. RATNER:

 9        Q   Was there discussion during the meeting about

10  any policies as they applied to  as to

11  whether she was required to turn her camera on during

12  virtual learning?

13        A   Yes, there was a conversation about that.

14        Q   Please relay that to Ms. Freeman.

15           THE HEARING OFFICER:  When was the

16      conversation?

17           THE WITNESS:  November 4th IEP meeting.  It

18      was a team meeting.

19           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Tell me your part

20      of it.

21           THE WITNESS:  So as we discussed , 

22      was not making progress, and part of the reason

23      that  was not making progress is because 

24      actually wasn't attending school.  It was a part of

25      the frustration.  You know, it's hard to service a
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 1      child when they are not engaged in the learning.

 2      And  was really struggling with virtual

 3      learning.  We --  said, the words are floating

 4      on the screen.  I can't do this.

 5           MS. OWENS:  I'm objecting because this witness

 6      stated what  said, and  was not a member of

 7      that IEP meeting.

 8           MR. RATNER:  I'm so sorry.  We've had this

 9      discussion about quote-unquote facts not in

10      evidence.  Mr. Lawson testified and Mrs. 

11      testified about words floating on the screen.

12           MS. OWENS:  But that wasn't the question that

13      was posed.  The question that was posed was to

14      discuss what transpired during the IEP meeting.

15           Now we're talking about matters that were

16      not -- that  did not state during the course of

17      the IEP meeting because  was not there.

18           MR. RATNER:  Thank you for clarifying that.

19 BY MR. RATNER:

20        Q   Were words floating on the screen?

21           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.

22           Move forward with your questioning.  Go ahead.

23 BY MR. RATNER:

24        Q   Did anybody during the IEP team meeting

25  mention  a problem with words floating on

REDACT
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 1  the screen in Mr. Lawson's advanced math class in fifth

 2  grade?

 3        A   I will tell you that, yes, we did discuss

 4  that  was reporting that words were floating on the

 5  screen.

 6        Q   Okay.  It was discussed during the

 7  November 4th, 2020, IEP team meeting that Ms. Owens was

 8  in attendance at; is that correct?

 9        A   Correct.  And it was discussed another time,

10  if I may.

11        Q   Please.

12        A   After that meeting with the school system

13  when the entire IEP team was there, it became evident

14  to me that I -- my suggestions were being met with a

15  lot of resistance.  So I asked  if, after

16  this meeting, shortly after this meeting, I said, we

17  need to repair this relationship.  Would you please

18  reach out --

19        Q   When you say "we," we just need to be very

20  clear --

21        A   I, Laura Burke.  Sorry.  I, once again,

22  collectively talk about the team.  So I felt the

23  need -- I asked  if she would reach out to

24  Ms. McCluskey and Ms. Houston to see if they would be

25  amenable to meeting, no attorneys, no recording, just a
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 1  they also in the IEP meeting, Ms. Pettiway, McCluskey,

 2  and Houston?

 3        A   Yes.

 4        Q   Okay.  Please tell Ms. Freeman what happened

 5  during the meeting for operation get  back on

 6  track.

 7        A   So we had been met with some resistance, and

 8  that was my initial reasoning for wanting to just have

 9  the team together, no offense to any attorneys, but I

10  think that it's a much more relaxed environment when

11  we're not being recorded, when we don't have other

12  people present.  We can just brainstorm.

13            There was some resistance to -- we talked

14  about the words floating on the screen.  I had made a

15  recommendation earlier on with Mrs.  to ask for

16  hard copies of all of the work, meaning printed out,

17  here is the math packet, because I really felt it was

18  important to take the screen out of the equation.  How

19  can we best meet the needs of this child?  The screen

20  is obviously causing an issue.  Technology is meant to

21  level the playing field.  It is not meant to add

22  frustration.  And so --

23        Q   You mentioned frustration.  Was there any

24  discussion of  anxiety?

25        A   A lot of discussion, yes.
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 1        Q   Tell Ms. Freeman about that.

 2        A   So  had been reporting, not just to us,

 3  but also to -- I'm last, I'm stupid -- to

 4  Ms. McCluskey, who  actually had a really good

 5  rapport with.  And I thought I had a good rapport

 6  during these team meetings with Ms. McCluskey.

 7  Ms. McCluskey had shared how bright  is and had

 8  mentioned MIT; that in her future, there's MIT, which

 9  showed me, like, Ms. McCluskey knows this child.  She

10  understands her learning.  She had been a teacher or --

11  I'm sorry, the case manager, the special education

12  teacher in fourth grade.

13        Q   I'm really sorry to interrupt.  You're doing

14  great.  I made a mistake.

15            Just so the record is clear, when you say

16  "MIT," was she referring to the Massachusetts Institute

17  of Technology in Cambridge, Massachusetts?

18        A   MIT, yes.

19        Q   Just didn't want there to be any confusion

20  about that.

21        A   Yes.  And, you know,  is a very bright

22  child.  She's gifted.  She has -- I believe the

23  records -- and you have it all in front of you.  I

24  think she has like a 129 IQ, which is like right at

25  that superior level.  And she has dyslexia, a severe

REDACTED
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 1  learning disability.

 2            And so part of this brainstorming session was

 3  the attendance piece.   is not engaged.  She is not

 4  coming and chiming in.  We don't know how to get her

 5  there.  So part of that was we looked at the schedule

 6  of, you know, the virtual schedule.

 7             has direct instruction with

 8  Ms. McCluskey for reading, which we know is a big area

 9  of need for .  And the schedule had -- you know,

10  there's instruction throughout the day, and then at

11  2:00 -- on one of the days it was 2 to 3 and on the

12  other -- they do an even-odd schedule; so one day it's

13  from 2 p.m. to 3 p.m. and on the other day it's 2 p.m.

14  to 3:30 p.m. of no instructional time.  So --

15        Q   Let me stop you right there.  I told a little

16  fib.  In one of those books -- and if you don't mind, I

17  will approach you.

18           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Go ahead.

19 BY MR. RATNER:

20        Q   Volume 1 of the Parents' book, tab 20.  Turn

21  to tab 20.

22            Is that 's virtual schedule that you were

23  just describing?

24           MS. OWENS:  I object.  How is this witness

25      going to testify as to whether this is a virtual

REDACTED
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 1      schedule when she's not the one who implemented the

 2      schedule?

 3           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Do you know what her

 4      virtual was?

 5           THE WITNESS:  I did have her schedule, yes,

 6      ma'am, for this meeting.

 7           MR. RATNER:  If I may.

 8           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

 9           MR. RATNER:  Again, this has just been a

10      little foreign to me because usually I get to ask

11      the question to lay a foundation before there's an

12      objection.

13           THE HEARING OFFICER:  That's what you're

14      doing, I hope.

15           MR. RATNER:  But Ms. Owens keeps objecting.

16           THE HEARING OFFICER:  She has her right to

17      object.

18 BY MR. RATNER:

19        Q   So you were just discussing a virtual

20  schedule, correct?

21        A   Correct.

22        Q   Were you reviewing that document during the

23  operation get  back on track meeting?

24        A   Ms. McCluskey and Ms. Houston, we were

25  discussing how  was not coming to school.  So there

REDACTED
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 1  was a talk of the attendance.  And part of the issue

 2  was at the very end of the day,  had her direct

 3  instruction with writing and/or study skills with

 4  Ms. McCluskey.  So Ms. McCluskey is a special education

 5  teacher at Old Hundred Elementary School.

 6           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Right.

 7           THE WITNESS:  And she's going to be working

 8      directly with  during this time.  So when I

 9      hear that a child -- remember, I'm a problem

10      solver.  So I look at the schedule, and I say,

11      well, she has a really big chunk of downtime where

12      she's logged off, if she's even been on the

13      Chromebook, she's logged off.  She has this break

14      from either 2 to 3 or 2 to 3:30 depending on the

15      day, and we're expecting a, you know, a child in

16      fifth grade to come back in from whatever downtime

17      activity they've been doing to get back on for a

18      half hour of direct instruction time.

19           That's really difficult, very difficult to

20      say, you know, we're going to give you this big

21      break.  We're in a virtual setting.  So it's not

22      like I have a teacher who is going to say, okay,

23      it's time to come back to the table, to give that

24      direction in an educational setting.   was

25      missing time.

REDACTED
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 1           So during this meeting, we talked about

 2      scheduling.  I said -- offering suggestions -- can

 3      we look at a different time earlier in the day?  I

 4      mentioned the morning meeting, which is on the

 5      schedule, which takes place between 9:25 and

 6      10 a.m.  So it was their very first class of the

 7      day.

 8           And I said, Ms. Houston and Ms. McCluskey,

 9      could we look at that time if Ms. McCluskey is

10      available?

11           Ms. McCluskey says, I am open in that block of

12      time.

13           And Ms. Houston said, But that's morning

14      meeting time and it's cherished time.

15           I said, Could you please explain what you mean

16      by cherished time?  What happens during that

17      morning meeting?

18           She said, We do our social-emotional learning

19      check-in.

20           So that was, once again, a countywide

21      initiative to say, how are the kids doing.  So

22      morning meeting is that time where they do these

23      checks-ins.  Remember, we're all virtual.  So all

24      of those people are on a Chromebook.

25           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Let's just confine our

REDACTED
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 1      remarks to .

 2           THE WITNESS:  Checking in for this time.

 3           And I suggested at this meeting, wouldn't it

 4      be better served for , instead of trying to

 5      figure out how do we get her back after an hour,

 6      hour and a half downtime, no instruction, no

 7      teacher break back on to a Chromebook, can we bring

 8      that to the beginning of the day?

 9           So, you know, I was met with some resistance

10      on that from Ms. Houston saying, Well, no, this is

11      an important time for check-ins.

12           I said, Okay.  Well, could we do it prior?  We

13      could figure out a way for the family to have 

14      there prior to school, prior to 9:25 in the

15      morning.  Could we have this service delivered

16      earlier than morning meeting?

17           No, staff gets in at 9.

18           MS. OWENS:  Ms. Freeman, I don't think that

19      there's a question pending.  Certainly the witness

20      can testify, but there has to be a response to a

21      particular question.

22           MR. RATNER:  I asked her to describe the

23      meeting operation get back on track, and she

24      has been describing it.

25           THE HEARING OFFICER:  We would probably want

REDACTED
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 1      to bring her back with a question or two, don't you

 2      think?

 3 BY MR. RATNER:

 4        Q   What happened after you suggested meeting

 5  before the morning meeting?  What was the -- it wasn't

 6  actually a formal team -- what was the group's

 7  response?

 8        A   No.

 9        Q   No, we can't do that?

10        A   No, we can't do that.  Staff comes in at 9.

11  No, we can't.

12            I then said, Could we go and approach

13  Ms. Mottley, could we approach the county and ask for a

14  stipend?  Because if you're going to come in on your

15  own time, let's see if we can get that.

16            No, that can't be done.

17            Okay.  It was resistance after resistance

18  after resistance, whether it was we can't give you hard

19  copies or -- it doesn't matter that -- and we talked

20  about the words floating on the screen at this meeting.

21        Q   So I don't think I got that clearly from your

22  conversation.  Who said, no, we cannot give you hard

23  copies during that meeting?

24        A   So, once again, it was a county -- it was

25  COVID.

REDACTED
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 1           MS. OWENS:  Hard copy of what?

 2           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think we've gone into

 3      other area, though.  Are you talking about copies

 4      of her --

 5           THE WITNESS:  Her work.

 6           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Her work.

 7           THE WITNESS:  So when we have a Chromebook and

 8      a child who is struggling with technology, how can

 9      we take the technology out of the equation?  Being

10      a problem solver, here's a packet, here's

11      paper-and-a-pencil work for you.

12 BY MR. RATNER:

13        Q   And so, again, irrespective of what anyone

14  was doing in the county, you made a request could 

15  have hard copies?

16        A   Correct.

17        Q   And what was the response?  Was  allowed

18  to have hard copies?

19           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Hard copies of?

20           THE WITNESS:  Of her work.

21           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Of the work in the

22      Chromebook?

23           THE WITNESS:  Correct.  So there are math

24      problems on the Chromebook for math, and they are

25      presented on the screen.  For a child like , my

REDACTED
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 1  was a dyslexia specialist?

 2        A   She is Chesterfield County Public Schools

 3  employee, and her name is April Lennox.

 4        Q   But I'm -- did you mention April Lennox by

 5  name in the November 4th, 2020, meeting?

 6        A   I actually asked Ms. Houston if she had met

 7  with April Lennox, to which she did not know who that

 8  was.

 9           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Could you spell her last

10      name, please.

11           THE WITNESS:  L-E-N-N-O-X.

12           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Lennox?

13           THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am.  I believe that's

14      the correct spelling.  She's an employee at the

15      county.

16           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah, I was thinking

17      I've already heard her name.

18           MR. RATNER:  She's been in the hearing the

19      entire time.

20           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm sorry.  I forgot

21      your name.

22           MS. OWENS:  Ms. Freeman, there's been a lot of

23      hearsay testimony that's being elicited.  While the

24      witness can certainly testify about the fact there

25      were -- these meetings occurred, we would object to

REDACTED
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 1      what she's saying a particular person said

 2      something in response because she is not permitted

 3      to do so.  That's merely hearsay testimony.

 4           MR. RATNER:  Okay.  I'm really going to have

 5      to respond to that, if I may.

 6           THE HEARING OFFICER:  To the hearsay.

 7           MR. RATNER:  Yes, please.

 8           THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right.  Go ahead.

 9           MR. RATNER:  And I understand, and I'm sure

10      you understand as well, there's an issue with --

11      Ms. Burke is participating in the conversation.

12      She hears Ms. Houston say something.  That's

13      first-hand knowledge.  Ms. Houston said to her.

14      She heard her say it.

15           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Right.  So she can tell

16      me what Ms. Houston said.

17           MR. RATNER:  That's right.  But Ms. Owens just

18      said that's hearsay.

19           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think it was because

20      she was repeating -- wasn't it because she was

21      repeating things that other people had said to her?

22           MS. OWENS:  Absolutely.  That is hearsay.

23           MR. RATNER:  Right.  Like Ms. Houston saying,

24      I've never met April Lennox.

25           THE HEARING OFFICER:  But she's never met her,

REDACTED
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 1      right?

 2           MS. OWENS:  How do you know?  This is hearsay.

 3           MR. RATNER:  No, that's the point.  It's not

 4      being offered for the truth of the matter asserted,

 5      which that's their question is how do we know if

 6      Ms. Houston ever met her.  All we're saying --

 7           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Does it really matter?

 8           MR. RATNER:  What's that?

 9           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Does it matter?

10           MR. RATNER:  No.  What matters is that it was

11      said.

12           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Let's move forward and

13      not have these discussions.  To the extent --

14           MR. ANDRIANO:  Ms. Freeman, let the record

15      reflect the witness is speaking with counsel.

16           MR. RATNER:  With me?

17           THE WITNESS:  I didn't speak with Todd at all.

18           MR. ANDRIANO:  You're speaking with somebody

19      over there, and I just want the record to reflect

20      that.

21           THE HEARING OFFICER:  These are the general

22      rules.  And I apologize, you walked into kind of

23      the middle of the hearing.  There's no reason why

24      you would know the general rules.  But you can

25      drink your water to your heart's content, but as

REDACTED
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 1      far as talking to counsel or mouthing any words to

 2      him, that's probably not, or to the Parents or

 3      either counsel, that's probably not advisable.

 4           THE WITNESS:  I think it was my frustration

 5      that every time -- it's just very frustrating.

 6           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I can tell you're a very

 7      expressive person, but let's try to stop that.

 8           Is there anything else that you noticed?

 9           MR. ANDRIANO:  No.

10           THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right.  Go.

11           MR. RATNER:  So where are we on this hearsay

12      issue?

13           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Oh, well, the -- I don't

14      remember exactly which individuals she referred to

15      during her testimony who had spoken to her.  I

16      believe it was Ms. Houston, I believe Ms. Lennox

17      was referred to, but I don't remember her saying

18      anything that Ms. Lennox had said to her.  And then

19      Ms. McCluskey and what they said.  I think there

20      was a mention of Ms. Pettiway, too.  But I just

21      need to hear -- so it's sustained as far as her

22      testimony regarding other individuals who have

23      spoken to her.

24           MR. RATNER:  To whom?

25           THE HEARING OFFICER:  To Ms. Burke.  And so

REDACTED
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 1      let's just focus on the items that you remember

 2      that were said to you.

 3           THE WITNESS:  That was in the IEP meeting.

 4           MR. RATNER:  I'm still a little bit confused.

 5      What she said is Ms. Houston said this to me.

 6           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  All right.  As

 7      far as that one.  But there were other things that

 8      I believe -- Ms. Owens did not want to interrupt

 9      her, but I think there were other items.  So

10      generally speaking, yes, generally speaking, I just

11      need to hear what you said.

12           MR. RATNER:  Not what she heard?

13           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm sorry.  And what you

14      observed with your own --

15           THE WITNESS:  So I was in both meetings.  So

16      in the IEP meeting on November 4th, I did bring up

17      April Lennox.  I believe all of the meetings are

18      recorded.  To my knowledge, both attorneys were

19      recording them.  I brought up April Lennox, and I

20      asked Ms. Houston if she had had a consult with

21      April Lennox.  It's a county employee.  So it's not

22      an outside person.

23           THE HEARING OFFICER:  That's where we stopped,

24      yeah.

25           THE WITNESS:  Who specializes in children who

REDACTED
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 1      have dyslexia, those learning needs.

 2           And so when we know that  was struggling

 3      with virtual education, Chromebook, the way that

 4      lessons were being presented, saying that words

 5      were floating across the screen, my recommendation

 6      was to have staff have a consult with Ms. Lennox.

 7      It makes sense.  If you are struggling with

 8      something, you bring in the expert.  You bring in

 9      the person who specializes --

10           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Let me give you another

11      rule.  When you're testifying, expert opinion is

12      required sometimes.  So you need to qualify this

13      witness as an expert if she's going to give

14      opinion.

15           THE WITNESS:  So it was my recommendation as

16      an advocate that we have April Lennox consult with

17      the staff at Old Hundred.

18           THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right.

19           THE WITNESS:  It was a county employee.  She's

20      there.  That's her role in the county.

21           THE HEARING OFFICER:  That's what you said,

22      right?

23           THE WITNESS:  Correct.

24           And they said, No, it's not needed.  That was

25      Ms. Mottley.

REDACTED
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 1           THE HEARING OFFICER:  And she said that to

 2      you?

 3           THE WITNESS:  In the IEP team meeting, she

 4      said it to everyone, yes.

 5           MS. OWENS:  Ms. Freeman, the concern that I'm

 6      continuing to have with this witness is that she is

 7      asserting that certain people made certain comments

 8      during the course of this IEP meeting.  To the

 9      extent that she wants to provide her input about

10      what she said to the IEP meeting participants,

11      that's one thing, but then to say that so-and-so

12      said this or someone else said that, that is

13      classic hearsay testimony.

14           If Mr. Ratner wanted to have those individuals

15      there to testify as to whether they made a

16      particular comment, then that would be the

17      appropriate person for those comments to come from,

18      not from Ms. Burke.

19           MS. RATNER:  May I just give one response?  In

20      addition to it not being hearsay, it's also all of

21      these are admissions of a party opponent.  She

22      cannot speak to what occurred in a meeting just

23      saying what she said.  I mean, it doesn't make

24      sense.  She can say, I recommended this but can't

25      say what the response to it was?
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 1           THE HEARING OFFICER:  The problem, to me, is

 2      that she's giving a lot of opinions about what she

 3      recommended, and there's been no qualification.

 4           MR. RATNER:  Again, that goes to the weight.

 5      She made a recommendation.  Whether you think it

 6      was a good recommendation or not is for you to

 7      decide.  It's not an opinion.  It's a fact that she

 8      made the recommendation.

 9           THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right.  Let's move

10      on.

11           MS. RATNER:  Did you sustain the objection

12      or --

13           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes.

14           MR. RATNER:  Great.

15 BY MR. RATNER:

16        Q   Let's go back to the brainstorming meeting.

17  Anything else relevant happen at the brainstorming

18  meeting?

19        A   Well --

20           THE HEARING OFFICER:  From your knowledge.

21           THE WITNESS:  From my knowledge, a schedule

22      change did not happen for .

23 BY MR. RATNER:

24        Q   Okay.  What's the next thing that happened

25  with respect to this IEP team?

REDACTED
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 1        A   We had the meeting in February.  The date, I

 2  don't remember exact dates.  So it was the transition

 3  IEP meeting.  So a representative from Tomahawk Creek

 4  Middle School was in attendance for that meeting.

 5        Q   What do you mean by transition IEP team

 6  meeting?

 7        A   So we talked about a child, , who is

 8  going to be going from Old Hundred Elementary School,

 9  graduating fifth grade, and transitioning to the middle

10  school.

11        Q   Did  and her family -- did -- I'm sorry.

12  Strike that.

13            Did you and the  have concerns about

14   transition from Old Hundred to Tomahawk Creek

15  elementary school -- Middle School?

16        A   Yes.

17        Q   What were those concerns?

18        A   So for  who -- I know from what was said

19  at the IEP meeting that  was not doing the graphic

20  organizers or writing to produce a sample work product

21  independently.  I know that middle school has reading

22  and writing embedded throughout the curriculum.  So in

23  every subject area, there is an initiative to have, you

24  know, reading and writing.  So, for example, if I may,

25  in --
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 1           MS. OWENS:  I'm going to object to the extent

 2      that this witness has already testified that she

 3      is -- she was a teacher in Maryland.  There's been

 4      no testimony offered that would indicate that she

 5      has the foundational knowledge to testify about

 6      middle school in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

 7           MR. RATNER:  If I may.

 8           MS. OWENS:  So if she has specific information

 9      that she would like to convey with regard to 

10      in particular, then she may testify to that.

11           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Go ahead.  I'm sorry to

12      cut you off, Ms. Owens.  Were you finished?

13           MS. OWENS:  Yes, ma'am.

14           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

15 BY MR. RATNER:

16        Q   Ms. Burke, were we talking about the

17  February 19, 2021, IEP meeting?

18        A   Correct.

19        Q   Did you and/or Mrs.  and/or Mr. Mueller

20  express concerns about the transition for  from

21  elementary school to middle school?

22        A   Yes.

23        Q   Was that a topic of discussion for the entire

24  team?

25        A   Yes.

REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED



 v Chesterfield County Public Schools Page 1274
Job # 47228 Due Process Hearing - Day 4 of 8 3/24/2022

www.cavalier-reporting.com Cavalier Reporting & Videography info@cavalier-reporting.com
(434) 293-3300 Reported by Lori A Boeding (800) 972-1993

 1        Q   Did you participate in that discussion?

 2        A   Yes.

 3        Q   Okay.  Tell Ms. Freeman what you personally

 4  observed, either statements you made or statements you

 5  heard from other team members, about the transition to

 6  middle school for ?

 7        A   So my concerns within the team meeting for

 8  things that were shared, we talked about reading and

 9  writing across the curriculum.  We know that 

10  struggles with reading and writing and that supports

11  are going to have to be layered into place throughout

12  the day for her.  We talked about pacing of the

13  classes.  So in middle school, we have a bell schedule.

14  We don't have the flexibility of elementary school to

15  say, well, we're just going to kind of keep going with

16  this and into this --

17           MS. OWENS:  This is the part that I keep

18      objecting to.  Because there's been no testimony

19      that this person has first-hand knowledge about

20      what transpires in middle school, so she's been --

21      middle school in the Commonwealth.  There's been

22      no -- regardless of why Mr. Ratner is chuckling,

23      there's been no foundation laid for this witness

24      that would indicate that she can testify about what

25      Tomahawk Creek Middle School bell schedule looks
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 1      like.  There's been no testimony to that.

 2           THE HEARING OFFICER:  She's a Maryland -- if I

 3      recall, teaching is in Maryland?

 4           MR. RATNER:  That's correct.  But she's not

 5      offering opinion based on that.  The irony, again,

 6      is we have a recording of this meeting.  Ms. Owens

 7      was at the meeting.  She knows what was discussed

 8      and --

 9           MS. OWENS:  And --

10           MR. RATNER:  Let me finish.

11           MS. OWENS:  I will let you finish, and then I

12      will make my comment for the record.

13           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Let him finish.

14           MR. RATNER:  The scheduling at Tomahawk Creek

15      Middle School was an important topic of the

16      conversation of this IEP team meeting in which

17      Ms. Burke participated, and she is attempting to

18      communicate to you what was discussed by the team

19      at that meeting.

20           Ms. Owens keeps objecting, and I don't

21      understand the basis of the objection.

22           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think she can give me

23      her factual knowledge about what was discussed.

24           MR. RATNER:  Right.

25           THE HEARING OFFICER:  But no opinions.
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 1           MS. OWENS:  There's been testimony -- first of

 2      all, Mr. Ratner is trying to make it -- he's trying

 3      to imply that because I was present at the meeting

 4      that I will agree with what the witness is

 5      testifying occurred at the meeting.  He was, like,

 6      Ms. Owens was at the meeting so she knows.  I --

 7           THE HEARING OFFICER:  First of all, that would

 8      turn you into a witness.

 9           MS. OWENS:  So we won't even get into that.

10      But what I will say is what this witness testified

11      to, if she's testifying about what the team

12      discussed is one thing, but if she's going to try

13      to provide testimony about what generally happens

14      with the bell schedule in middle school, she cannot

15      provide that type of testimony.  That's the basis

16      of my objection.

17           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Because that requires

18      her to give us an opinion.

19           MR. RATNER:  That's right.  But, again,

20      Ms. Owens just said if she is going to.  She hasn't

21      done it, and she will not do it.

22           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I couldn't recite it

23      back for you word for word, but I believe she was

24      telling us about what the schedules generally are

25      in the school systems.  Did I hear something
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 1      incorrectly?  Must be my bad hearing again.

 2      Anyway, so tell us what you know about the

 3      schedule -- the discussion of the schedule.

 4           THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am.

 5           THE HEARING OFFICER:  If that's okay.  Is that

 6      okay?

 7           MR. RATNER:  Oh, absolutely.

 8           THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right.

 9           THE WITNESS:  Ms. Williams was in attendance

10      at this IEP meeting.  She is the special ed

11      coordinator over at Tomahawk Creek Middle School

12      where  would have been transitioning from fifth

13      to sixth grade.

14           Ms. Williams shared in that meeting that we

15      don't have the same, at the secondary level, the

16      same flexibility as we do at the elementary level.

17           THE HEARING OFFICER:  And who shared that with

18      you?

19           THE WITNESS:  Ms. Williams.

20           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Who just testified?

21           MR. RATNER:  Correct.

22           THE HEARING OFFICER:  So why didn't we ask

23      Ms. Williams?

24           MS. RATNER:  She did testify to that this

25      morning about --

REDACTED

REDACTED



v Chesterfield County Public Schools Page 1278
Job # 47228 Due Process Hearing - Day 4 of 8 3/24/2022

www.cavalier-reporting.com Cavalier Reporting & Videography info@cavalier-reporting.com
(434) 293-3300 Reported by Lori A Boeding (800) 972-1993

 1           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'll go back over my

 2      notes.  All right.  Let's go ahead.

 3           THE WITNESS:  Okay.  In the talking about the

 4      scheduling at middle school, we had to find direct

 5      instruction time for .  In order to do that,

 6      Ms. Williams said that we would have to take --

 7           MS. OWENS:  I'm going to object to this

 8      witness providing hearsay testimony.

 9           THE HEARING OFFICER:  "Ms. Williams said" is

10      the problem.

11           MR. RATNER:  It is not hearsay.

12           THE WITNESS:  I heard in the meeting --

13           MR. RATNER:  I just have to -- I can recite

14      the hearsay rule for you, but I don't know --

15           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think I did take that

16      bar exam.

17           MR. RATNER:  Oh.

18           THE HEARING OFFICER:  So let's move forward

19      and ask her a question, another question.

20      Sustained.

21 BY MR. RATNER:

22        Q   Okay.  Did you ever talk about private

23  placement at The New Community School with the February

24  2021, excuse me, February 19, 2021, IEP meeting?

25        A   We did.
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 1        Q   Okay.  Who brought that up?

 2        A   I believe it was Kevin Mueller who brought

 3  that up, but I'm not sure.

 4        Q   Okay.  That's your recollection?

 5        A   My recollection is that someone definitely --

 6  it was Kevin Mueller or the .

 7        Q   And who was Kevin Mueller?

 8        A   He was the ' attorney at the time.

 9        Q   And what was discussed by the IEP team that

10  you heard and participated in about The New Community

11  School?

12        A   So New Community School is set up to serve

13  students who are college bound and who have dyslexia.

14        Q   Before you go too far, was all of this

15  discussed in the meeting?

16        A   Yes.

17        Q   Okay.  Thank you.  Continue.

18        A   And so we spoke about the fact that  is a

19  student who aptitude-wise is going to attend a college,

20  is on that track, for a better terminology, and with

21  the dyslexia, that this is a school that is set up to

22  serve both of those twice exceptional for .  We

23  talked about the staff training.  The staff is trained

24  at New Community School.  We talked about the fact that

25  reading and writing is embedded within that curriculum.
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 1  However, the difference was in our team -- what we said

 2  was that she would be provided those supports

 3  throughout the day.  Wherever reading and writing is,

 4  there would be supports in place at a place like New

 5  Community School.

 6            We also talked about the whole child because

 7  what --

 8           THE HEARING OFFICER:  The what child?

 9           THE WITNESS:  The whole child.  What had come

10      up was at Tomahawk Creek Middle School in order to

11      have direct reading instruction, it's a pull-out

12      class.  She would have to give up -- she would have

13      to not be scheduled for an elective at Tomahawk

14      Creek Middle School.  I think art -- so for sixth

15      grade, art --

16           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Just about , please.

17           THE WITNESS:   would not be able to take

18      an elective because she would have to get direct

19      instruction in reading, which meant because

20      Ms. Williams shared the schedule at the middle

21      school, it's not as flexible --

22           MS. OWENS:  I object to hearsay.  Ms. Williams

23      has testified, and she can speak for herself.

24           THE WITNESS:  I heard at the meeting that 

25      would not be allowed to be in an elective class
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 1      because she had to be in a certain time period for

 2      her direct reading instruction, which she

 3      desperately needs.

 4           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Which is your opinion.

 5           THE WITNESS:  At New Community School, what we

 6      spoke about in regards to New Community is that

 7       would be allowed to have an elective, keep PE

 8      and still be supported and given direct services

 9      throughout the instructional day.

10 BY MR. RATNER:

11        Q   Let me stop you right there.

12            Did April Lennox's name come up in the

13  February 19, 2021, IEP meeting?

14        A   I don't recall.

15        Q   Okay.  That's fine.  What was the upshot?

16  Was a determination reached about private placement

17  during the February 2021 meeting?

18        A   The school team was not in agreement.

19        Q   Okay.  During that meeting, was there any

20  review of evaluations?

21        A   Yes.

22        Q   And you heard that review?

23        A   I heard the review of the FBA, the functional

24  behavior assessment, that had been done, yes.

25        Q   And what was communicated to you during that
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 1  meeting about the functional behavior assessment?

 2        A   So it was shared in the results of this that

 3   -- I believe it was Ms. McCluskey's grading scales

 4  that showed that  was borderline schizophrenic.

 5           MS. OWENS:  I'm going to object.  I object.

 6      This is --

 7           THE HEARING OFFICER:  It's probably a

 8      psychological opinion that maybe you're not

 9      qualified to testify about.

10           THE WITNESS:  It was part of the FBA, ma'am.

11           THE HEARING OFFICER:  What was that?

12           THE WITNESS:  It was part of the FBA that had

13      been done, the functional behavior assessment, so

14      it was presented in this meeting.

15           MS. OWENS:  There's an objection pending.  So

16      the witness typically would not respond.

17           But I will also state that to the extent that

18      the FBA is being referenced, that is already a

19      document, an exhibit, that's been admitted into

20      evidence.

21           THE HEARING OFFICER:  By the way, do you

22      happen to know off the top of your head what that

23      exhibit is?  I was curious about that myself when

24      Ms. Williams was testifying if there had been an

25      FBA.
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 1           MS. OWENS:  The functional behavioral

 2      assessment is on School Board --

 3           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I meant to ask her that

 4      question.  What was the FBA?

 5           MS. OWENS:  Exhibit Number 28 is the interview

 6      and Exhibit Number 29 is the functional behavioral

 7      assessment summary.

 8           THE HEARING OFFICER:  So the final BIP is on

 9      29?

10           MR. ANDRIANO:  The final FBA is School Board

11      Exhibit 29.

12           MR. RATNER:  I'm sorry.  Were you asking about

13      a BIP, behavior intervention?

14           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah, behavior

15      intervention.

16           MR. RATNER:  I don't think there is one.  Is

17      that correct?  I'm not aware of a BIP.

18           MS. OWENS:  Exhibit Number 29 is the FBA.

19           MR. RATNER:  Right.  And Ms. Freeman was

20      asking about a BIP.

21           MS. OWENS:  There's a functional behavioral

22      assessment.

23           MR. RATNER:  Is there a BIP?

24           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Well, the BIP doesn't

25      always result from the FBA.  I just don't recall
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 1      having read it.  That's why I was curious.  I'm

 2      sorry to interrupt.

 3           But, all right, so where are we now?  Was

 4      there an objection?

 5           MR. RATNER:  I think you sustained it, so we

 6      can -- we will move on.

 7           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

 8 BY MR. RATNER:

 9        Q   At the conclusion of the February 2021

10  meeting, since then, have you had any more interaction

11  with any member of Chesterfield County Public Schools

12  as it specifically relates to 

13        A   No.

14        Q   Okay.  Is there anything else you would like

15  to tell the Hearing Officer before I finish my

16  questioning?

17        A   New Community School has a motto that is --

18           MS. OWENS:  I am going to object to this

19      witness testifying about The New Community School.

20           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I thought you were here

21      to testify about being an advocate.

22           THE WITNESS:  Correct.  This will go into my

23      advocacy.

24           THE HEARING OFFICER:  So are you a

25      representative then for New Community School?
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 1           THE WITNESS:  Am I a representative for New

 2      Community?

 3           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes.

 4           THE WITNESS:  No, I'm not.  It has to do with

 5      the pacing in middle school is what I'd like to

 6      address.  Mr. Ratner asked if I had anything I

 7      wanted to add, and I would like to --

 8           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Well, that was an

 9      open-ended question.

10           MR. RATNER:  It's direct examination.

11           THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think there was an

12      objection, though, correct?

13           MS. OWENS:  Yes, ma'am.  And to the extent

14      that the witness began to respond to the question

15      with regard to The New Community School and there's

16      been no foundation laid that would indicate that

17      she has any knowledge that would allow her to

18      present such testimony or otherwise testify about

19      the pacing of Chesterfield County Public Schools

20      middle school.

21           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Any response?

22           MR. RATNER:  No, no response.

23           THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right.  Sustained.

24           MR. RATNER:  Great.  Ms. Burke, I really

25      appreciate your time today.

REDACTED
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 1           THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

 2           MR. RATNER:  Thank you for being here.

 3           And, Ms. Freeman, could we just take a quick

 4      convenience break and then we will finish up?

 5           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sure.  Okay.

 6

 7              (Break taken.)

 8

 9           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Go ahead.

10           MS. OWENS:  Thank you.

11           THE HEARING OFFICER:  You were completely done

12      with your direct?

13           MR. RATNER:  That's correct.

14

15                     CROSS-EXAMINATION

16 BY MS. OWENS:

17        Q   Good afternoon, Ms. Burke.

18        A   Hi.

19        Q   You first began talking about the IEP meeting

20  that occurred on November 4, 2020, correct?

21        A   Yes.

22        Q   And during that time, you were present at

23  that IEP meeting as an advocate on behalf of the

24  Parent?

25        A   Correct.
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 1        Q   And you also mentioned that Mr. Mueller,

 2  referring to Kevin Mueller, was there as an attorney on

 3  behalf of the Parent, correct?

 4        A   Correct.

 5        Q   And are you aware of whether the Parent gave

 6  consent to the implementation of that IEP that was

 7  developed on November 4, 2020?

 8        A   No.

 9        Q   So you don't know that she gave consent to

10  the implementation of that IEP?

11           MR. RATNER:  Objection.  Asked and answered.

12      She very clearly said, No, I don't know[sic].

13           THE HEARING OFFICER:  She did?  Okay.

14      Sustained.

15 BY MS. OWENS:

16        Q   You also testified about a meeting that

17  happened on December 1st, 2020, correct?

18        A   Correct.

19        Q   And that was not an IEP meeting?

20        A   No.

21        Q   And with regard to the IEP meeting that

22  occurred in February of 2021, you were there with the

23  Parents again, correct?

24        A   Correct.

25        Q   And they were also represented by legal

REDACTED
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 1  counsel during that meeting?

 2        A   Correct.

 3        Q   And the Parent provided -- are you aware of

 4  whether the Parents provided written consent to the

 5  implementation of that February 2021 IEP?

 6        A   No.

 7        Q   And you've never evaluated ?

 8        A   It would not be my role to evaluate .

 9        Q   That wasn't my question.  My question was,

10  you never evaluated , correct?

11        A   Correct.

12        Q   And you've never taught  as a teacher

13  within Chesterfield County Public Schools?

14        A   To that, no.

15           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Were you ever together

16      with her in school at all?

17           THE WITNESS:  Pardon me?

18           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Were you in class with

19      her?

20           THE WITNESS:  It was all virtual for the most

21      part of the year, so, no, visitors were not in

22      school.  For observation, you mean?

23           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Oh, so it was all

24      virtual?

25           THE WITNESS:  Until cohort three and then we
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 1      had another shutdown in December.  We had a

 2      shutdown because of numbers.

 3           MR. RATNER:  Make sure you limit your

 4      responses to .

 5           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

 6           THE WITNESS:  Typically, I will.

 7           THE HEARING OFFICER:  In virtual?

 8           THE WITNESS:  I can't do it in virtual.

 9           MS. OWENS:  No further questions.

10           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  Any

11      follow-up?

12           MR. RATNER:  No, ma'am.

13           THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right.  I believe

14      you may be excused.

15           Does anyone -- do you want to call her later?

16           MR. RATNER:  No.  I think she may be excused.

17           I'm really sorry to say, I planned for Julie

18      Oliver tomorrow at 9:00, so I think we will just be

19      done a little bit early today.  So I apologize for

20      that.

21           THE HEARING OFFICER:  No problem.

22           MR. RATNER:  Good.  Okay.

23           THE HEARING OFFICER:  You gave me a chance to

24      order flowers for my daughter.

25           MR. RATNER:  That's great.
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 1           THE HEARING OFFICER:  So I guess we're done

 2      for today.  I'm going to get out of here, unless

 3      you need me for anything.  Do you at all?

 4      Otherwise, I'll just go ahead and leave.

 5           MR. RATNER:  I think we are on good track.

 6      We've got two witnesses left.

 7           THE COURT REPORTER:  Are we off the record?

 8           THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes.  I'm sorry.

 9

10           (Hearing adjourned at 4:11 p.m.)

11
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 1 COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA AT LARGE, to wit:

 2        I, Lori A. Boeding, CCR, Notary Public in and for

 3   the Commonwealth of Virginia at Large, and whose

 4   commission expires August 31, 2024, do certify that I

 5   was the court reporter at the aforementioned

 6   proceedings and that the foregoing is a true, correct,

 7   and full transcript to the best of my knowledge and

 8   ability of the proceedings herein.

 9        I further certify that I am neither related to

10   nor associated with any counsel or party to this

11   proceeding, nor otherwise interested in the event

12   thereof.

13        Given under my hand and notarial seal at

14   Richmond, Virginia, this 6th day of April, 2022.

15

16

17

18            _________________________________________
               Lori A. Boeding, CCR

19                Notary Registration No. 239861
               Commonwealth of Virginia at Large

20
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